# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANTHONY K. RUSSELL,	)	
Petitioner,	)	
v.	)	
	)	CASE NO. SC06-335
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)	
	)	
Respondent.	)	
	)	

## MERITS BRIEF OF THE PETITIONER

JAMES S. PURDY PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

David S. Morgan Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar number: 0651265 444 Seabreeze Boulevard, Suite 210 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 (386) 252-3367

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The instant case originated with two trial court cases, *i.e.*, 01-3151-CF, carrying a concealed firearm and 03-172-CF, sexual battery upon a child under 16 years of age (R-1-2). <sup>1</sup>

In case number 01-3151-CF the defendant was initially sentenced to 2 years of probation (R-17). A violation of probation (VOP) affidavit was filed alleging that the defendant had violated probation by committing a lewd or lascivious act (R-25). An order was rendered dismissing the affidavit (R-28).

In case number 03-172-CF the defendant received a sentence of 365 days jail time and 5 years of sex offender probation (R-36). An affidavit of violation of sex offender probation was filed for a curfew violation (R-42). The defendant's probation was reinstated by the court (R-69).

Affidavits of violation were filed in both cases on September 30, 2004 (R-64; 84). Amended affidavits were filed on October 18, 2004. In case number 01-3151-CF the allegations brought were that the defendant failed to report, he did not complete public service hours, he was in arrears in court costs, he was behind on fines payments, and he had committed an aggravated battery upon a pregnant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> References to the record on appeal are indicated "(R-page)." The parties

woman on October 14, 2004 (R-90). Similarly, in case number 03-172-CF the defendant was alleged to have failed to report, was in arrears in costs of supervision and restitution, and had committed an aggravated battery upon a pregnant woman on October 14, 2004 (R-85).

Raymond Torrellas of the Marion County Sheriff's Office testified that he responded to a BP station to speak with the alleged victim, Nicole Delasandro, on October 4, 2004 (R-129). The defendant was not present (R-138). The deputy did not see a battery committed. He merely observed that the alleged victim had a red mark on the left side of her neck towards the rear, where she said the defendant had struck her (R-130; 131). The alleged victim also told the officer that the defendant was her boyfriend (R-130). She also informed the deputy that she was pregnant (R-137). She further said that he wanted to take her car to his sex offender class, but she did not want to let him. She stated also that he wanted money. She also said that when she had attempted to leave the vehicle he grabbed her hair and pulled her back (R-132). When she was able to get away she said that she then went inside the gas station and had someone call the sheriff's office. The alleged victim wrote out the following statement:

are referred to by their trial court designations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The testimony of the defendant's probation officer is omitted because the court found that only the allegation of the substantive offense had been proven (R-

Anthony Russell (my boyfriend) & me[,] Nicole Dalessandro[,] were going to vacuum my car before I take [sic] him to his sex offenders class at the BP. We were fighting about me not dropping him off. he [sic] wanted to go by himself & I said no because I had things to do so we kept fighting and as I told him no as I turned around and he hit me in the back of the neck and I went to grab my key out of the car & he pulled me back & pulled my hair. So I got away & ran to the BP & he pulled off w/ my car.

(R-96).

When the deputy came into contact with the defendant, the defendant did not want to discuss the incident (R-136). The defendant, however, initiated a conversation en route to the jail (R-137). He said that he knew that the alleged victim was pregnant, although he said that he was not sure that it was his baby. He also told the deputy that he does not hit the alleged victim, he just roughs her up. This latter statement was general in nature and not related to the incident under investigation.

During the VOP hearing the defense argued against the admittance of the written statement of the alleged victim:

Q [PROSECUTOR]: I am going to show you what is marked as State's Exhibit Number [sic] A and ask you if you recognize that?

A [DEPUTY]: Yes. This is a written statement I obtained from the victim.

160).

Q Okay. Is that a true and accurate depiction of the statement that she wrote out for you and as you signed?

### A Yes, ma'am.

[PROSECUTOR] Your Honor, at this time the State would ask that that be entered as State's Exhibit Number 1.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Judge, I am going to object for the record. It's hearsay within hearsay. It's not only a written statement that was made allegedly by the alleged victim in this case, but it's also containing hearsay statements within that statement, so.

THE COURT: Okay. Well, what's the – since I've not seen it, what is [sic] the written statements within the statements that are hearsay?

PROSECUTOR]: The statements are statements of the defendant, which would not be hearsay, would be the State's response to that.

Uhmm, it is hearsay, however, and the State's response would be that hearsay is allowed in a VOP as long as it's not the sole basis of the violation.

THE COURT: So you're of the belief that if she writes down a statement which the defendant told to her that is still admissible?

[PROSECUTOR]: Well, our – our statement to that would be that would be his statement. I mean, it's for the Court's ruling, I mean –

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: It's – Judge, the statements in this document, not only is this document hearsay, but there's [sic] statements in this – in this document that said she's talking about what she told him.

And again, it [sic] double hearsay. We don't have the victim here to cross examine her. This violates his Sixth Amendment right to confront the accuser.

(R-133-34).

At the conclusion of the hearing the judge exonerated the defendant of all allegations except the new law battery violation (R-160). The defendant was sentenced to 15 years imprisonment in case number 03-172-CF (R-162; 165). He received an additional five years consecutive to the sentence in 03-172-CF in case number 01-3151-CF. *Id.* In the final order on the VOP the judge wrote, *inter alia*:

At Trial, the State called, as witnesses, the Defendant's probation officer and the arresting officer. The Defendant testified at Trial. No other live witnesses were presented. Also admitted into evidence, as State's Exhibit "1" was a statement taken by the arresting Officer from the alleged victim. While that statement contained alleged statements made by the Defendant, as the Court orally announced at Trial, the Court placed no weight on any alleged statements of the Defendant referred to in this specific report.

The Defendant was charged with a number of violations of his probation including a condition 5 violation of committing the new crime of aggravated battery upon a pregnant person, namely, his girlfriend. Hearsay is admissible in violation of probation trials provided it is not the sole basis to convict a Defendant. The evidentiary burden of proof on the State of Florida in violation of probation trials is lower than the "reasonable doubt" standard in other criminal cases.

Based upon the evidence presented at Trial, the Court finds that the STATE OF FLORIDA has met its burden of proof in establishing, by the greater weight of the evidence, that the Defendant committed a willful and substantial violation of his probation by violating condition number 5 because he committed a criminal offense (battery) upon his girlfriend. The Court finds the Defendant not guilty on any other alleged violations of his probation, however, as stated above, the condition 5 violation was both established and is willful and substantial. . . .

(R-164-65).

The defendant, who was later acquitted of the substantive charge, filed a motion to mitigate his sentence (R-169). The motion was denied (R-183).

An appeal was taken to the Fifth District Court of Appeal. The defense argued on appeal that a violation could not be founded solely upon hearsay and that the red mark only had significance when the hearsay statement of the alleged victim was considered. Secondly, the defense contended that the defendant was revoked for conduct not charged in the information. Lastly, the defense asserted that admission of the written statement of the alleged victim violated the defendant's right to confrontation.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal rendered a written decision. *Russell v. State*, 920 So. 2d 683 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006) (the decision was previously submitted to this Court in the appendix to the jurisdictional brief of the petitioner). The district court rejected the first argument of the defense by holding "hearsay statements of the battery victim, coupled with the officer's observation of injury, were sufficient to prove a probation violation." *Id.*, 684, *citing Arndt v. State*, 815 So. 2d 674 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002); *Morris v. State*, 727 So. 2d 975 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999). Significantly, the court also noted: "We acknowledge what appears to be contrary authority on this point in *Santiago v. State*, 889 So. 2d 200 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004), *Colwell v. State*, 838 So. 2d 670 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003) and *Blair v. State*, 805

So. 2d 873 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001).<sup>3</sup> *Id.*, 684, n. 2.

The defense filed a motion for certification of conflict based on the court's acknowledgment of contrary authority, but the district court denied the motion.

The petitioner filed a jurisdictional brief with this Court. Jurisdiction was accepted by an order dated May 5, 2006.

This brief follows.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The petitioner does not assert conflict between the instant case and *Blair v*. *State*, 805 So. 2d 873 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001), because *Blair* differs from the instant case as there was no visible injury on the victim in the earlier case. *Id.*, at 875-76.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Point One: The question of law that requires resolution is whether a VOP based upon an allegation of battery can be proven through only the use of hearsay statements and testimony regarding the observation of an injury on the alleged victim. The trial court found a VOP for battery based only upon (1) the hearsay statements of the alleged victim that were introduced during the responding deputy's testimony, coupled with (2) evidence of an injury in the form of a red mark on the victim's neck (the victim did not testify). The Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed in *Russell v. State*, 920 So. 2d 683 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006). Two other district courts of appeal, on the other hand, have held that the observation of an injury taken together with inculpatory hearsay statements are insufficient for the purpose of proving a VOP.

The ruling by the Fifth District that such evidence is adequate should be disapproved because the contrary holdings of the Second and Fourth District Courts of Appeal are sounder. The evidence of an injury is of no significance without the hearsay evidence. This Court should hold that a VOP may not be established through the introduction only of hearsay statements by the alleged victim and evidence of an injury otherwise unexplained.

Point Two: The written statement of the alleged victim was inadmissible. Its admission violated the defendant's right to confrontation. The sixth amendment right to confrontation should apply to probation revocation hearings because such proceedings are part of the criminal prosecutions and, further, independently have all of the characteristics of criminal prosecutions. Courts, including this Court and the United States Supreme Court and even some of those courts that have rejected the applicability of the right to confrontation holding of *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 42, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 1359, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004), have ruled that a right to confrontation for probationers exists under the due process clause of the fourteenth amendment.

# **ARGUMENT**

#### Point One

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUSTAINING THE VIOLATION OF PROBATION BASED ONLY UPON THE HEARSAY STATEMENTS OF THE VICTIM AND OBSERVATION OF AN INJURY TO THE VICTIM.

The trial court found a VOP for battery based only upon (1) the hearsay statement of the alleged victim that was introduced during the responding deputy's testimony, coupled with (2) observation of an injury in the form of a red mark on her neck (the victim did not testify). There is express and direct conflict between the Second and Fourth District Courts of Appeal and the Fifth District Court of Appeal on the same question of law. The Second and the Fourth District Courts of Appeal have on a number of occasions held that inculpatory hearsay statements that are corroborated only by indicia of an injury are insufficient to prove a VOP. The question of law that requires resolution in this case is whether a VOP based upon an allegation of battery can be proven through the use of hearsay statements and testimony regarding the observation of injuries on the alleged victim. The standard of review for the pure questions of law before [this Court] is de novo." D'Angelo v. Fitzmaurice, 863 So.2d 311, 314 (Fla. 2003) (citation omitted).

In this case the alleged victim, who did not testify at the VOP hearing, gave a statement to the police. She had a red mark on her neck, an injury which she attributed to the defendant. In pertinent part, the Fifth District Court of Appeal held in the instant case: "[R]esolution of this issue is controlled by our decision in *Arndt v. State*, 815 So. 2d 674 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002), wherein we concluded that the hearsay statements of the battery victim, coupled with the officer's observation of injury, were sufficient to prove a probation violation." *Russell v. State*, 920 So. 2d 683, 684 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006). This holding is in express and direct conflict with the cases that follow.

The facts in *Santiago v. State*, 889 So. 2d 200 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004), are very similar to those in the instant case. The evidence of battery was in the form of hearsay statements and a red mark on the alleged victim's neck. The Fourth District Court of Appeal held:

In the case sub judice, the trial court relied upon the victim's mother's hearsay statements and the circumstantial evidence of red marks on the victim's face. Analogous to *Colwell v. State*,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The rationale of the district court appears to have been aptly stated in an earlier case: "The statements . . . were hearsay, but the substance of the statements was corroborated by the deputies' testimony at the hearing, which was direct evidence - not hearsay." *Morris v. State*, 727 So. 2d 975 (Fla. 5th DCA (1999). *See also Young v. State*, 742 So. 2d 410 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999); *Arndt v. State*, 815 So. 2d 674 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002).

and *Blair*, although the victim's injuries suggested to the deputy that a battery may have occurred, the deputy's observations could not connect Santiago to the alleged battery. Moreover, that the red marks on her cheek may have resulted from Santiago's slap suffers from the same hearsay deficiency as the remainder of the State's case. It is quite possible that there is another explanation for the red marks wholly independent of Santiago. . . . Therefore, we find that the trial court abused its discretion in revoking Santiago's probation on th[is] violation[].

Santiago, at 203, citing Colwell v. State, 838 So. 2d 670 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), and Blair v. State, 805 So. 2d 873 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001).

The Second District Court of Appeal has ruled consistently with the Fourth District Court of Appeal in *Santiago*. The facts in the case of *Colwell v. State*, 838 So. 2d 670 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), are almost identical to those in the instant case. The deputy responded to a domestic battery call at a convenience store. The alleged victim stated that Colwell had battered her and there was a red mark on her neck. The revocation was reversed. The appellate court held: "[T]he trial court found that there was additional evidence to prove the domestic battery - the red mark on Mrs. Colwell's neck that was consistent with her statements to the deputy and her hysterical demeanor. As a matter of law, this additional evidence was insufficient to sustain the revocation." *Id.*, at 671.

In an earlier case, *Colina v. State*, 629 So. 2d 274 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993), the district court rejected a revocation based upon evidence consisting of hearsay in the form of a letter from the alleged victim and testimony as to injuries. The facts were

stated in the following manner by the court:

There were no eyewitnesses, except the victim, to the battery. The alleged victim did not testify at the probation revocation hearing. While other witnesses testified to the fact that the victim showed evidence of injury, no one could testify as to the origin of the injuries. A letter from the alleged victim admitted into evidence at the hearing was hearsay as was testimony of a police officer and appellant's probation officer.

*Id.*, 275.

The district court held: "Because the evidence relied upon to prove appellant committed a battery while on probation was hearsay, the trial court's finding that appellant violated his probation is improper. We reverse the revocation of probation . . . ." *Id.*, at 275.

In another earlier case the Second District Court of Appeal reversed a revocation of probation on similar grounds. The case, *Robinson v. State*, 445 So. 2d 1135 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), involved a probationer who had been placed on supervision for physically abusing her child. *Id.* A deputy responded to the probationer's apartment based upon a report of child abuse. He photographed observed wounds on the child. The probationer and her child told the deputy that the child had fallen down a flight of stairs. Five days later the child told a detective that the probationer had strapped her with a belt. The child also told the detective that the probationer had told her to say that she had fallen down the stairs. The

### district court ruled:

It is well-established that while hearsay evidence is admissible in a probation revocation proceeding, a defendant's probation cannot be revoked solely on the basis of such evidence. As the Fourth District stated in *Combs*, "The rule requiring more than hearsay to establish a violation of probation requires other evidence of the defendant's misconduct, not just other evidence."

In the instant case, only the hearsay testimony of Terry Ann Bacon connected appellant with the alleged probation violation. Neither Deputy Marino's testimony nor the photographic evidence of Sharika's injuries established appellant's guilt of any misconduct. Accordingly, we reverse the order of revocation and subsequent adjudication and sentence and remand with instructions to reinstate appellant's probation.

Id., citing Combs v. State, 351 So. 2dd 1103 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977).

As in the above cases, the red mark observed on the victim in this case no more justified the finding by the trial court of a violation then did the hearsay of the victim. Without the hearsay the injury observed is entirely without significance. As the *Combs* court wrote, it is "just other evidence." *Id.* Again, as the *Santiago* court observed: "[T]hat the red marks on her [neck] may have resulted from [the defendant]'s slap suffers from the same hearsay deficiency as the remainder of the State's case. It is quite possible that there is another explanation for the red marks wholly independent of [the defendant]. . . ." *Id.*, 203. The same holds true in the instant case. It is possible that the observed injury was sustained by the alleged victim in a manner unrelated to the defendant. Again, the injury is without

significance without reference to the hearsay statements.

This Court should hold that a violation of probation may not be established through the introduction only of hearsay statements by the alleged victim and evidence of an injury otherwise unexplained.

## Point Two

# ADMISSION OF HEARSAY FROM THE ALLEGED VICTIM DENIED THE DEFENDANT HIS RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION.

"The Sixth Amendment's Confrontation Clause provides that, '[i]n all criminal prosecutions the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to be confronted with the witnesses against him." *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 42, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 1359, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004). If this case involved an initial prosecution rather than a VOP revocation hearing, there is little doubt that *Crawford* would apply. The alleged victim in the instant case made out a written statement for the responding deputy. As detailed above, the trial court had to rely upon the hearsay statements of the victim to find a violation because the officer was the only witness to testify regarding the alleged incident and he did not witness that which had taken place. The victim was not a witness at the hearing. There were no other witnesses

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>"Once this Court accepts jurisdiction over a cause in order to resolve a legal issue in conflict, [the Court] ha[s] jurisdiction over all issues." *Murray v. Regier*, 872 So.2d 217, 223 (Fla. 2002).

<sup>&</sup>quot;Because [the] trial court's ruling [involves] a mixed question of law and fact, [this Court] defer[s] to the trial court on the factual issues but consider[s] the constitutional issues de novo." *Seibert v. State*, 923 So.2d 460, 468 (Fla. 2006).

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