IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

ANTHONY K RUSSELL,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. SC06-335 5th DCA No. 5D05-2630

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

MERITS BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

PAMELA J. KOLLER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 0775990

KELLIE A. NIELAN
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar Number 0618550
444 Seabreeze Boulevard
Suite 500
Daytona Beach, Florida 32118
(386) 238-4990
(386) 238-4997 (fax)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

ISSUE I: While conflict was essentially acknowledged by the Fifth District Court of Appeal in the instant opinion, this Court should refuse to accept jurisdiction since this issue has been adequately addressed by the district court of appeal. Moreover, the trial court properly revoked Russell's probation based upon non-hearsay (Russell's statement that he roughs up his girlfriend a bit and the officer's independent corroborative observations) and hearsay (the victim's statements) evidence. Moreover, even setting aside Russell's statement, Russell's advocation of a per se rule that the trial court can never find willful and substantial violation based upon statements which are corroborated by a testifying witness's independent observations is not in accord with Florida law. The Fifth District Court of Appeal properly sustained Russells' revocation of probation.

ISSUE II: Russell contends that the admission of the victim's hearsay statements at his violation hearing violated his Sixth Amendment right to confront witnesses against him, pursuant to Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004). Russell is mistaken, as the courts which have addressed this issue have overwhelmingly found Crawford does not apply to revocation proceedings.

ARGUMENTS

ISSUE I

THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW OF THE DISTRICT COURT'S OPINION BECAUSE THE ISSUE WAS ADEQUATELY ADDRESSED BY THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL; MOREOVER, THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REVOKED RUSSELL'S PROBATION.

Petitioner seeks discretionary review with this Honorable Court under Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution. See also Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). Conflict was essentially acknowledged by the Fifth District Court of Appeal in the instant opinion; however, this Court should refuse to accept jurisdiction since this issue has been adequately addressed by the district court of appeal.

As to the merits, Russell's complaint is that the trial court erred by finding he had revoked his probation based upon the victim's hearsay statements and the officer's observations of the victim which corroborated her statements. It is well established in Florida that "[p]robation is a matter of grace rather than right. The trial judge has broad discretionary power to grant as well as revoke probation." Diller v. State, 711 So. 2d 54, 55 (Fla. 5th DCA)(citing Robinson v. State, 442 So. 2d 284, 286 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), rev. denied, 719 So. 2d 892 (Fla. 1998)). The evidence for revocation of probation need only be sufficient to satisfy the conscience of the court that the violation occurred. Rock v. State, 749 So. 2d 566, 567 (Fla. 3d

DCA 2000). "Before a trial court can revoke a defendant's probation, the state must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the defendant willfully violated a substantial condition of his probation." Crume v. State, 703 So. 2d 1216, 1217 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997)(citing Van Wagner v. State, 677 So. 2d 314, 316 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996)); see also Davis v. State, 704 So. 2d 681, 684 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997); Kolovrat v. State, 574 So. 2d 294, 297 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991).

Whether a defendant's violation of probation was willful and substantial is a question of fact, and will not be reversed on appeal unless an abuse of discretion is shown. Robinson v. State, 689 So. 2d 1147, 1149 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997)(citing Molina v. State, 520 So. 2d 320 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988)). An abuse of discretion is found "only where no reasonable man would take the view adopted by the trial court. If reasonable men could differ as to the propriety of the action taken by the trial court, then it cannot be said that the trial court abused its discretion." Canakaris v. Canakaris, 382 So. 2d 1197, 1204 (Fla. 1980).

The applicable facts here are not in dispute. Russell was found in violation of condition (5), new law violation, upon being charged with aggravated battery upon a pregnant woman. The essential elements of that offense include (1) those elements required to establish a simple battery—that the defendant either "actually and intentionally touched or struck another

person" against the latter's will, or "intentionally caused bodily harm to another person (§ 784.03(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (2005))--plus (2) that the victim was pregnant at the time of the battery, and (3) that the defendant either knew or should have known at the time of the battery that the victim was pregnant. § 784.045(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (2005).

In his appeal, Russell contended, inter alia, he was improperly found guilty of violating his probation based solely upon hearsay evidence. As the State pointed out, upon his arrest for aggravated battery upon a pregnant woman, Russell spontaneously stated that he does not hit his girlfriend, he "just roughs her up." The State argued in response to the hearsay complaint that Russell had been found to be in violation upon not only hearsay evidence, but also his admission by a party opponent, which falls under section 90.804, Florida Statutes, exceptions to the hearsay rule.

Russell spontaneously admitted to Torrellas he "roughed up" his girlfriend. According to the American-Webster Dictionary, to "rough up" means "[t]o treat roughly or with physical violence...." American-Webster Dictionary of the English Language (4th ed. 2000). In other words, there is no "roughing up" without touching against another's will.

In its decision in this case, the Fifth District Court of Appeal found Russell's statement to the police upon his arrest - that he does not hit his girlfriend, but roughs her up - to not be probative and to be exculpatory to the charge of aggravated battery upon a pregnant woman. Russell, 920 So. 2d at 684 n.1. The Fifth District Court of Appeal erroneously disregarded the statement in determining the sufficiency of the evidence against Russell. Id.

The victim informed police that Russell not only struck her, but also grabbed her by the hair to pull her back into the truck. As "roughing up" essentially and commonly means touching someone against their will, i.e., a battery, the fact that Russell admitted to roughing the victim up is probative to the charged violation, i.e. that he committed the crime of aggravated battery which is, essentially, touching a pregnant woman against her will. Thus, it is the State's position that the evidence in the instant case is sufficient to sustain a probation revocation, as well as distinguishable from the case law alleged to be in conflict by Russell based on the additional evidence presented by the State, i.e, the admission by a party opponent.

Even if this Court agrees with the Fifth District Court of Appeal that Russell's statement by a party-opponent is not probative and is exculpatory, then it is the State's position that the Fifth District Court properly sustained the trial court's finding of a probation violation which was established

by hearsay testimony corroborated by another witness's independent observations.

In sustaining the violation finding in Russell, the Fifth District Court of Appeal relied upon its prior decision in Arndt v. State, 815 So. 2d 674 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002), wherein the district court had determined that a hearsay statement corroborated with direct evidence concerning the victim's reddened face and ear was sufficient to establish a violation of probation. Id. at 675. In turn, the Arndt court relied upon Young v. State, 742 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999), rev. denied, 751 So. 2d 1255 (Fla. 2000). In Young, the Fifth District Court of Appeal had sustained the finding of a probation violation based upon the hearsay testimony of the victim and supporting photographs of the victim's injuries. Id. at 419. The Fifth District Court of Appeal in Young had relied upon its decision in Morris v. State, 727 So. 2d 975 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999), wherein the district court had upheld a violation finding based upon the victim's hearsay statements along with the deputies' testimony regarding their observation of the disarray of the trailer, the bite mark and bruise seen on the victim, the fact that the victim and her daughter were crying and terrified, and the defendant's belligerence toward the deputies. Id. at 976.

In these line of cases, the Fifth District Court of Appeal acknowledged that hearsay evidence, which is admissible at

violation hearings, could not by itself sustain a violation finding. Morris, 727 So. 2d at 976; Young, 742 So. 2d at 418; Arndt, 815 So. 2d at 675. However, when that hearsay was corroborated by direct evidence, such as the testimony of an officer who observed injuries consistent with the claims of the victim, such evidence can sustain a violation finding. Morris, supra; Young, supra; Arndt, supra.

The district court opinions which have held otherwise, such as Colina v. State, 629 So. 2d 274 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993), Colwell v. State, 838 So. 2d 670 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), and Santiago v. State, 889 So. 2d 200 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004), have found that the corroborative testimony was insufficient, essentially by reweighing the evidence. Colwell, 838 So. 2d at 672; Santiago, 889 So. 2d at 203. Obviously, it is improper for an appellate court to reweigh evidence considered by a trial court. Tibbs v. State, 397 So. 2d 1120, 1123 (Fla. 1981)("Legal sufficiency alone, as opposed to evidentiary weight, is the appropriate concern of an appellate tribunal."), aff'd, 457 U.S. 31 (1982).

It should be recalled that the burden of proof at a violation hearing is that the evidence satisfies the conscience of the court that a violation has occurred. Rock, supra. Moreover, the standard on appeal is whether the trial court abused its discretion by finding a violation. Robinson, supra. It simply seems illogical to conclude that no reasonable person

would find that the evidence in this case, or any case involving hearsay testimony which is corroborated by direct evidence, could not satisfy the conscience of the court that a violation occurred. Rock, supra; Canakaris, supra.

Russell's position is that a hearsay statement combined with a testifying witness's independent corroborative observations is insufficient as a matter of law to find a violation of probation. Besides the fact that appellate courts essentially are reweighing the evidence by dismissing the direct evidence as insufficient, the problem with Russell's position, and the authority he relies upon, is that it would establish a very broad per se rule. However, such a per se rule does not comport with Florida law.

In <u>State v. Carter</u>, 835 So. 2d 259 (Fla. 2002), this Court explained that:

In the instant case, the district court improperly applied a per se rule when it relied on Moore and Sanders in reaching its conclusion that the failure to file a single monthly report as a matter of law is not a substantial violation, and thus sufficient to justify a probation revocation. holding means that under circumstances could a failure to file a single report justify a revocation of probation. Such a per se rule strips the trial court of its obligation to assess any alleged violations in the context of a defendant's case. Trial courts must consider each violation on a case-by-case basis for a determination of whether, under the facts and circumstances, a particular violation

willful and substantial and is supported by the greater weight of the evidence. In other words, the trial court must review the evidence to determine whether the defendant has made reasonable efforts to comply with the terms and conditions of his or her probation.

<u>Id.</u> at 261 (emphasis added). It is to the trial court that the discretion to find a willful violation is granted as "[t]he trial court is in a better position to identify the probation violator's motive, intent, and attitude and assess whether the violation is both willful and substantial." <u>Carter</u>, 835 So. 2d at 262.

Thus, a per se rule prohibiting a trial court from finding a willful violation based upon hearsay statements combined with independent corroborative observations of a testifying witness in every case is inconsistent with the requirement that a trial judge consider each violation on a case-by-case basis for a determination that a particular violation is willful and substantial. Here, it was established by a greater weight of the evidence that Russell willfully and substantially violated condition (5) by the commission of a new law violation. Accordingly, the Fifth District's decision sustaining the violation of probation in this case should be affirmed.

Based on the foregoing facts and authorities, this Court should not accept jurisdiction. Although conflict was essentially acknowledged by the Fifth District Court of Appeal

in the instant opinion, this Court should refuse to accept jurisdiction since this issue has been adequately addressed by the district court of appeal. Additionally, the evidence in instant case is sufficient to establish a violation of probation and distinguishable from the cases Russell relies upon for conflict as the State not only had the victim's statements and the officer's independent corroborative observations, but, also, Russell's statement by a party opponent that he roughed up his girlfriend. Moreover, even setting aside Russell's statement, in reversing such violation findings, the appellate courts are essentially improperly reweighing the evidence. Further, Russell's advocation of a per se rule that the trial court can never find a willful and substantial violation based upon hearsay statements which are corroborated by a testifying witness's independent observations is not in accord with Florida law. The Fifth District Court of Appeal properly sustained Russells' revocation of probation.

ISSUE II

HEARSAY EVIDENCE WAS PROPERLY ADMITTED AT RUSSELL'S VIOLATION HEARING AS <u>CRAWFORD V.</u>

WASHINGTON, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), DOES NOT APPLY TO VIOLATION OF PROBATION HEARINGS.

Russell contends that the Fifth District Court erred by concluding that the admission of the victim's hearsay statements at his violation hearing did not violate his Sixth Amendment right to confront witnesses against him, pursuant to Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004). Russell, 920 So. 2d at 684-685. First, the State would contend any Crawford challenge to the admission of the oral statements of the victim is unpreserved as Russell made only a general hearsay objection below to the officer's testimony regarding the victim's oral statements. See, e.g., Knight v. State, 746 So. 2d 423, 430 (Fla. 1998) (Confrontation Clause argument was procedurally barred because a specific objection had not been made in the trial court).

Even assuming it was preserved, and considering the written statement also, Russell's contention that the admission of these statements violated <u>Crawford</u> is without merit, as the courts which have addressed this issue have overwhelmingly found <u>Crawford</u> does not apply to revocation proceedings.

<u>Crawford</u> held that out-of-court testimonial statements are barred under the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment. <u>Id.</u> at 37, 68. However, it is well settled that probation violation

hearings are not criminal prosecutions to which the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment applies. See Gagnon v. Scarpelli, 411 U.S. 778, 782 (1973) (while probationers are entitled to same rights as those given to parolees in Morrissey v. Brewer, 408 U.S. 471 (1972), "probation revocation, like parole revocation, is not a stage of criminal prosecution."); see also Minnesota v. Przyborowski, 2004 Minn. App. Lexis 835, *5-6 (Minn. Ct. App. July 20, 2004) (Gagnon and Morrissey do not hold that the Sixth Amendment Confrontation Clause bars the state from presenting hearsay evidence in a probation revocation proceeding, as the defendant's right to confront witnesses is one involving a due process balancing) (unpublished); California v. Johnson, 18 Cal. Rptr. 3d 230 (Ca. Ct. App. 2004) (same); Colorado v. Turley, 109 P.3d 1025 (Colo. Ct. App. 2004) (same); New York v. Brown, 800 N.Y.S.2d 352 (N.Y. Co. Ct. 2005) (same).

On the contrary, a probation violator is conferred certain confront witnesses due process rights to at violation proceedings, rather than a right of confrontation based upon the Sixth Amendment's Confrontation Clause. See United States v. Aspinall, 389 F.3d 332, 342-43 (2d Cir. 2004), abrogation on other grounds recognized, United States v. Fleming, 397 F.3d 95, n.5 (2d Cir. 2005)(Crawford, which involved criminal 99 proceedings, neither altered the requirements under Morrisey or Scarpelli, nor suggested that the principles of the Confrontation

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